IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORING

CASE NO.: 91-0818

FLORIDA BAR NO.: 334391

74,662

ELLED

JOSEPH DAUKSIS and JANICE DAUKSIS,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Olerk

-vs-

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY and RAMIRO BENAVIDEZ,

Defendants/Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS/PETITIONERS

JOSEPH DAUKSIS AND JANICE DAUKSIS

APPEAL FROM THE 4TH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Daniel E. Jacobson, Esq.
JACOBSON, COHEN & COHEN, P.A.
800 N.W. 62nd Street
Suite 200
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309
(305)491-6444

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Defendant/Respondent, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance company, will be referred to as State Farm.

The Plaintiff/Petitioner, Joseph Dauksis, will be referred to as Mr. Dauksis, or Plaintiff/Petitioner.

The record will be cited as "R (page number[s])."

The trial testimony will be referred to by "T (page number[s].)"

Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis is supplied by the writer.

The case of <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v.</u>

<u>Joseph Dauksis and Janice Dauksis and Ramiro Benavidez</u>, 17 FLW

D858 (4Th DCA 1992) shall be referred to as <u>Dauksis</u>.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 10, 1988, Mr. Dauksis's car was struck from behind by an uninsured motorist (R 442). As a result of the uninsured tortfeasor, Mr. Dauksis made a claim against State Farm, his uninsured motorist carrier for the injuries which he sustained in the accident. State Farm claimed that the injuries were soft tissue, but Mr. Dauksis and his treating physicians claimed that the accident caused a herniated disc (T 44-104; 120).

At trial, the plaintiff moved in limine to preclude State Farm from arguing the issue of the permanency of Mr. Dauksis's injuries, based upon the recent case of Newton v. Auto-Owners Insurance Co., 560 So.2d 1310 (1st DCA 1990), rev. denied, 574 So.2d 139 (Fla), and rev. denied, 574 So.2d 141 (Fla 1990). The trial court determined that the Newton decision applied to the instant case, and granted plaintiff's motion over defendant, State Farm's objection (T 2-9).

The case went to the jury, who returned a verdict in favor of Mr. and Mrs. Dauksis in the amount of \$55,000 (T 415).

The case was appealed by State Farm to the Fourth District Court of Appeals on numerous grounds. The Fourth District reversed, but only on the basis of the trial court's reliance on Newton in holding that the threshold defenses set out in F.S. 627.727(7) did not apply in the Dauksis case. In its opinion the Fourth District certified to the Supreme Court any conflict between its decision in Dauksis, and the First District's decision in Newton.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal to the Supreme Court came about as a result of a decision by the Fourth District Court of Appeal that its decision on the Dauksis appeal is in conflict with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the case of Newton v.

Auto-Owners Insurance Co., supra. The Fourth District certified to the Supreme Court any conflict between the two decisions.

The issue is whether or not the tort threshold defenses set out in Florida Statute §627.737 are available to the uninsured motorist insurance carrier when the tortfeasor did not have the security on his vehicle required by Florida Statute §627.730-627.7405.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Dauksis</u> has said that the threshold defenses do apply; the First District Court in <u>Newton</u> has said they do not.

The decisions conflict insofar as their facts are similar, but each court came to a different conclusion. In each case, the claimant was injured by an uninsured motorist, and made a claim against his own insurance carrier for uninsured motorist benefits. In the Newton case, the First District found the uninsured benefits recoverable without the threshold motorist were restrictions of Florida Statute §627.727(7). In the Dauksis case, the Fourth District found that Dauksis could not make a claim under the uninsured motorist provisions of his insurance policy without being subject to the threshold defenses. The only difference between the two cases is that in Newton the uninsured tortfeasor was a non-resident of Florida, while in Dauksis, the uninsured tortfeasor was a resident of this state. The Fourth District recognizes this difference in the facts, and relies on this difference to justify their decision.

Petitioners herein will demonstrate that the decision by the Fourth District is in error for the following reasons:

- A. Since the tortfeasor did not comply with the minimum security requirements of Florida Statute §627.737, he would not have been able to rely on the threshold defenses had he been sued individually, and because the insurer stands in the shoes of the tortfeasor, it cannot assert the threshold defenses as well.
- B. The purpose behind the uninsured motorist statute is to allow the insured the same recovery he could have obtained had the tortfeasor carried liability insurance, not p.i.p. Since compensation for personal injury protection was never contemplated within the meaning of the uninsured motorist statute, it follows that reliance on the tort immunity provided when one has complied with the p.i.p. requirements would be inappropriate.
- C. The history behind the uninsured motorist statute does not provide for tort immunity in uninsured motorist cases.
- D. The fact that in <u>Newton</u> the tortfeasor was a non-resident while in <u>Dauksis</u> the tortfeasor was a Florida resident makes no difference with regard to the issues on appeal.
- E. Because State Farm's insurance policy states that it

will pay any damages which the insured is legally entitled to recover from an uninsured motorist, this language must be strictly construed against State Farm, and as such it cannot rely on the statutory exemption contained in the uninsured motorist statute.

F. The statutory exemption from tort liability contained within section 7 of the uninsured motorist statute is unconstitutional, as it bears no reasonable relationship to the legislative purpose in enacting the uninsured motorist statute.

### ARGUMENT

A. SINCE THE UNINSURED TORTFEASOR CANNOT RELY ON THE THRESHOLD DEFENSES, STATE FARM CANNOT EITHER.

Petitioners herein argued to the Fourth District Court of Appeal that since the uninsured tortfeasor would not be entitled to the tort immunity provided in Florida Statute §627.737, State Farm should not be able to rely on this immunity, since it stands in the shoes of the tortfeasor, and can only raise those defenses available to the tortfeasor.

Florida Statute §627.737 sets forth the requirements for the tort exemption and the threshold requirements:

# §627.737. Tort exemption; limitation on right to damages; punitive damages

- (1) Every owner, registrant, operator or occupant of a motor vehicle with respect to which security has been provided as required by ss.627.730-627.7405, and every person or organization legally responsible for his acts or omissions, is hereby exempted from tort liability for damages because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of the ownership, operation, maintenance, or use of such motor vehicle in this state to the extent that that the benefits, unless a person is entitled to maintain an action for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience for such injury under the provisions of subsection (2). (Emphasis supplied.)
- (2) In any action of tort brought against the owner, registrant, operator, or occupant of a motor vehicle with respect to which security has been provided as required by ss.627.730-627.7405, or against any person or organization legally responsible for his acts or omissions, a plaintiff may recover damages in tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish,

and inconvenience because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor vehicle only in the event that the injury or disease consists in whole or in part of:

- a) significant and permanent loss of important bodily function.
- b) Permanent injury with a reasonable degree of medical probability, other than scarring or disfigurement.
- c) Significant and permanent scarring or disfigurement.
- d) Death.

The clear and concise language of this statute indicates that the owner or operator of a motor vehicle is exempted from tort liability and entitled to raise the threshold requirements only when he has provided the security required on his motor vehicle called for in sections 627.730 through 627.7405. In other words, if security is not provided, the tortfeasor cannot be exempted from tort liability and cannot raise the threshold requirements as a defense. See <u>Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Co.</u>, infra, at 13-14.

Furthermore, the statute provides that "every person or organization legally responsible for his acts or omissions" is also exempted from tort liability if the security requirements have been met. Since State Farm Insurance Company as the uninsured motorist carrier would be legally responsible for the acts of the uninsured owner/tortfeasor, it could only be exempted from the threshold requirements if the owner/tortfeasor has complied with the security called for in the statute.

In response to this argument, the Fourth District stated:

"The tortfeasor in this case was uninsured and it

seems impossible for any uninsured motorist to have the requisite security, which entails the minimum insurance coverage provided in sections 627.730-627.7405. Dauksis, at D858.

This statement is clearly mistaken in light of the fact that many individuals can comply with the minimum security requirements while still remaining uninsured for bodily injury purposes.

There are many thousands of people in this state who comply with the financial responsibility requirements by purchasing the minimum insurance required under the law. However, this minimum does not include liability insurance coverage. Therefore, all of these individuals would be uninsured for uninsured motorist purposes, but would still be entitled to assert the threshold defenses had they been sued individually.

It seems clear that the legislature intended part of the purpose of the security requirements to be to award those people who comply with the financial responsibility statute to be immune from suit unless the claimant has met the injury threshold, and at the same time punishing those who have not complied by refusing them the ability to rely on the threshold defenses. See <u>Lasky v.</u> State Farm Insurance Co., infra.

Thus, it appears that there are 3 classes of motorists in this state: (1) Those that carry p.i.p., property damage and liability coverage and comply with the statute; (2) Those that carry p.i.p. and property damage only, who comply with the minimum requirements of the statute, but who would be uninsured for uninsured motorist purposes (but also could rely on the threshold defenses); (3) Those who carry no insurance coverage.

It must be remembered that this is a limited, qualified immunity, inuring only to those who comply with the statute. 31 Fla. Jur 2d Insurance §778.

So, when the Fourth District Court of Appeal says that it is impossible for any uninsured motorist to have the required security, it is clearly mistaken. In the case of individuals having full coverage who are involved in an underinsured motorist claim, the uninsured motorist insurer would be entitled to assert the threshold defenses. In cases involving those who only had the minimum insurance coverage, the uninsured motorist carrier would be able to rely on the threshold defenses as well. It is only those individuals who have no insurance coverage where the uninsured motorist carrier could not raise the threshold defenses. Hopefully, the majority of drivers in the state carry some insurance coverage, in compliance with the statute.

The problem here is that Mr. Dauksis is one of those individuals who has complied with the statute. Not only that, but he had coverages well in excess of the minimum requirements, and uninsured motorist coverage too. If he sued the tortfeasor directly, there would be no threshold defenses. It seems that Mr. Dauksis is being penalized because he had full coverage. He paid an additional premium to obtain uninsured motorist coverage. In all those cases when the tortfeasor was uninsured, and a uninsured motorist claim is made, it is the claimant who has complied with the statute, not the tortfeasor. The insurance carrier has not paid a premium so as to be entitled to assert the threshold defenses. The insurance carrier receives all of the benefits of

the tort immunity without assuming any of the burden shared by all those individuals who are entitled to claim the immunity by reason of their compliance with Florida law by purchasing the required insurance coverage. So State Farm gets paid by those individuals, such as Mr. Dauksis, to purchase insurance which they <u>must</u> buy in order to comply with the law, and then State Farm gets to tell those same individuals that it is entitled to assert the threshold defenses, for which privilege it has paid or given up nothing. It's like having your cake and eating it too - it's just not fair.

B. UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE IS INTENDED TO ALLOW THE INSURED

THE SAME RECOVERY HE COULD HAVE OBTAINED HAD THE TORTFEASOR

CARRIED LIABILITY INSURANCE, NOT P.I.P.

Following this line of thought a step further brings us to the portion of the Fourth District opinion where it states:

"Yet the supreme court has held the public policy of this state to be that every insured is entitled to recover for damages he or she would have been able to recover if the offending motorist had maintained a policy of liability insurance. Carguillo v. State Farm Auto Insurance Company, 529 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1988) (citing Mullins v. State Farm Mutual Insurance Company, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) (emphasis in original).

The crucial point in looking at this language is that the court in <u>Carguillo</u> and <u>Mullis</u> is talking about <u>liability</u> insurance, not p.i.p. insurance. It seems clear that, in keeping with this idea as it relates to a non-resident tortfeasor, that a non-resident could carry large amounts of liability coverage, but still would not be entitled to rely on the threshold defenses because he has not fully complied with Florida's financial responsibility laws.

The Fourth District goes on to say:

"The supreme court also interpreted the uninsured motorist statute in <u>Dewberry v. Auto Owner's Insurance Co.</u>, 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978). In that case the court held that uninsured motorist coverage is intended to allow the insured the same recovery which would have been available to him had the tortfeasor been insured to the same extent as the insured himself. <u>Id.</u> at 108. We find <u>Dewberry</u> to be dispositive of the case at bar." <u>Dauksis</u>, at D859.

Once again, in the Dewberry case, the court is talking about

liability coverage, not p.i.p.. In holding that <u>Dewberry</u> is dispositive of the <u>Dauksis</u> case, the Fourth District does not take into account the fact that the issues in the <u>Dewberry</u> case had to do with stacking of motor vehicle insurance coverages, and had nothing to do with the concept of the tort immunity in uninsured motorist cases. The context in which the statement "allow the insured the same recovery which would have been available to him had the tortfeasor been insured..." was meant to prevent an insured from failing to set off from his recovery the amount of the tortfeasor's liability insurance coverage. To say that this statement is dispositive of the issues in this appeal is to take that statement out of context, since the court in <u>Dewberry</u> also held, in interpreting the basic theory of uninsured motorist coverage:

"That theory is that uninsured motorist coverage is meant to compensate the plaintiff for a deficiency in the tortfeasor's personal <u>liability</u> insurance coverage. We agree." <u>Dewberry</u>, at 1081 (emphasis added).

The Fourth District seems to have interpreted the Supreme Court's opinion in <a href="Dewberry">Dewberry</a> (uninsured motorist coverage is intended to allow insured the same recovery... had the tortfeasor been insured to the same extent as insured himself) to mean that the "same extent as insured himself" includes the p.i.p. coverage necessary to permit reliance on the threshold defenses. However, the court in the <a href="Dewberry">Dewberry</a>, <a href="Caguillo">Caguillo</a> and <a href="Mullis">Mullis</a> cases refers specifically to liability insurance only, not p.i.p. The Petitioners herein respectfully submit that the Fourth District interpretation of the above mentioned Supreme Court decisions is

mistaken, since the Court in its decisions has specifically limited the definition of uninsured motorist coverage to be compensation for difficiencies in the tortfeasor's liability coverage, and has never intended uninsured motorist coverage to include p.i.p. insurance, which would be necessary in order to rely on the tort immunity afforded by Florida Statute \$627.737 and Florida Statute \$627.727(7).

Furthermore, as the court in <u>Newton</u> points out, the language of §627.727 specially provides that uninsured motorist insurance provides coverage "over and above, ... benefits available to an insured under... personal injury protection benefits," and does not duplicate such benefits. Florida Statute §627.727(1); <u>Newton</u>, at 1313. Therefore, pursuant to the clear language of the statute, uninsured motorist insurance was never meant to include p.i.p. insurance, and was only meant to compensate an injured party for a difficiency in the tortfeasor's liability insurance coverage.

Of course, the p.i.p. benefits as described in the statute were meant to include payment for lost wages and medical bills, rather than the "benefit" of the tort immunity available to those who have complied with the statute by purchasing the minimum requirements. But the point is that the concept of uninsured motorist insurance - allowing the insured the same recovery had the tortfeasor been insured to the same extent as insured himself - is talking about the liability insurance of the insured and was never meant to include the tort immunity available to the insured as a result of his compliance with the no-fault statute.

# C. THE HISTORY BEHIND THE UNINSURED MOTORIST STATUTE DOES NOT PROVIDE FOR TORT IMMUNITY IN THIS SITUATION.

In the case of <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Boynton</u>, 486 So.2d 552 (1986), this court discussed the history and purpose behind the uninsured motorist statute. This court stated, in part:

"The legislature wisely enacted a scheme whereby a motorist may obtain a limited form of insurance coverage for the uninsured motorist, by requiring that every insurer doing business in this state offer and make available to its automobile liability policyholders uninsured motorist coverage in an amount equal to the policyholders automobile liability insurance. The policyholder pays an additional premium for such coverage. The uninsured motorist statute provides that coverage is 'for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury.' Florida Statute §627.727(1). The uninsured motorist coverage, in purpose and effect, provides a limited form of insurance coverage up to the applicable policy limits for the uninsured motorist. The carrier effectually stands in the uninsured motorist's shoes and can raise and assert any defense that the uninsured motorist could urge. In other words, uninsured motorist coverage is a limited form of third party coverage inuring to the limited benefit of the tortfeasor to provide a source of financial responsibility if the policyholder is entitled under the law to recover from the tortfeasor. It is not first party coverage even thought the policyholder pays for it. In first party coverage, such as medical, collision or theft insurance, fault is not an The insurance carrier pays even though element. the policyholder is totally at fault. uninsured motorist coverage, the carrier pays only if the tortfeasor would have to pay, if the claim were made directly against the tortfeasor. at 557 (emphasis added)

As the court points out, uninsured motorist coverage inurs to the benefit of the tortfeasor, not the insurance company. The carrier pays only if the tortfeasor would have to pay, if the claim were made directly against the tortfeasor. As stated earlier, if the claim were made directly against the tortfeasor he would not be able to rely on the threshold defenses, and as such the insurance carrier should not be able to as well.

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