O IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,662

JOSEPH DAUKSIS, and JANICE DAUKSIS, his wife

Petitioners,

vs.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, RAMIRO BENAVIDEZ

Respondents.

Florida Bar No: 184170

FILED

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON MERITS
STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

(With Appendix,

Naw Offices of
RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.
Richard A. Sherman, Esquire
Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire
Suite 302
1777 South Andrews Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316
(305) 525-5885 - Broward
(305) 940-7557 - Dade

and

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

There is no question that if <u>Newton</u> is based on the fact that the First District simply decided that it did not have to apply \$627.727(7), then of course this Court must overrule it. If on the other hand, <u>Newton</u> is simply a ruling that the First District refused to allow the uninsured Alabama tortfeasor the benefits of Florida law, where he did not give up certain elements of damages in order to collect PIP benefits like the Florida residents have done, then in fact, the Fourth District was correct that <u>Newton</u> is distinguishable on its facts. The bottom line however, is that Florida Statute \$627.727(7) applies to all Florida uninsured motorist policies and must be given effect and requires affirmance of the <u>Dauksis</u> decision below.

E. All Uninsured Motorist Policies In Florida Incorporate All Florida Statutory Provisions Which Are Part Of The Contract.

Contrary to what Dauksis asserts, the interpretation of

State Farm's policy language is not at all at issue. As previously noted, the only reason that Newton could have possibly looked to the insurance language in that case, was because the court decided not to apply \$627.727(7) and \$627.733(4), which entitles the uninsured motorist carrier to assert the permanency It is important to remember that insurance carriers defense. doing business in Florida are required by statute to offer uninsured motorist insurance, and must provide this coverage unless it is expressly rejected by the insured. It has always been the law in Florida that when an insurance contract is required by statute, the parties to the contract are presumed to have adopted the statutory provisions and those provisions become part of the contract. National Merchandise Co., Inc. v. United Service Automobile Association, 400 So.2d 526, 531 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (a statute applicable to the insurance policy, which was enforced at the time the policy of insurance was consummated, is considered a basic ingredient of the contract, because the law in existence at the time of the making of the contract of insurance forms a part of that contract, as if it were expressly referred to in its terms); Standard Accident Insurance Company v. Gavin, 184 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) (parties who enter into insurance contract on a matter surrounded by statutory limitations and requirements are presumed to have entered into the agreement with reference to those statutes and such statutory provisions become a part of the contract); Williams v. New England Mutual Life Insurance Company, 419 So.2d 766 (Fla. 1st

DCA 1982); Standard Marine Insurance Company v. Allyn, 333 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976).

In fact, there is no question that when State Farm issued its policy to Dauksis it relied on the uninsured motorist and no-fault statutes as well as its right to assert the threshold defense, when it paid out benefits to Dauksis, as it was standing in the shoes of the tortfeasor. Therefore, Dauksis is simply wrong when he claims that he paid a premium and somehow had been cheated because his carrier is entitled to raise the statutory defense of permanency. As previously discussed at length, Dauksis' inability to collect pain and suffering damages for a non-permanent injury were given up in exchange for his right to collect PIP benefits, whether he was at fault or not.

The discussion in <u>Newton</u> is totally irrelevant regarding the application of the insurance contract language, where instead the statutes clearly control. This is not changed by the single case that Dauksis cites in support of his position; <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Mallard</u>, 548 So.2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). <u>Mallard</u> simply holds that where an insurance policy amplifies, extends, or modifies, statutory minimum coverage, greater reliance is given on those provisions which result in greater indemnity. <u>Mallard</u>, 735. There is nothing in <u>Mallard</u> that states that the entire statutory scheme for uninsured motorist coverage and no-fault can be completely ignored, simply because the State Farm policy does not expressly list these statutes, or the no-fault threshold defense. As previously

noted, these statutes are presumed to be part of the contract that Dauksis entered into when he purchased his policy from State Farm, as a matter of law.

Furthermore, as this Court held in <u>Dewberry</u>, any deviation in the recovery by an insured from his UM carrier, from recovery by an insured from the tortfeasor directly, would "place the insured who is injured by an uninsured motorist in a better position than one who is harmed by a motorist having the same insurance as the insured." <u>Dewberry</u>, <u>supra</u>. To adopt Dauksis' line of reasoning, and to ignore the fact that the Florida statutes are incorporated in State Farm's policy, results in disparate treatment, as those motorists hit by uninsured tortfeasors receive a greater amount of damages than those who are unfortunate to be hit by an insured Florida motorist.

Dauksis cites no case law whatsoever, to uphold this unequal application of Florida law.

According to Dauksis, the State Farm policy language controls whether or not the UM carrier can invoke the no-fault threshold defense. Of course, his underlying premise is that the tortfeasor cannot invoke the threshold defense, which is simply incorrect. But even assuming arguendo that Dauksis is correct about this, Fla. Stat. §627.727(7) clearly allows the carrier to assert the threshold defense. The question in this case is the interpretation of Florida statutes, not the State Farm insurance policy. This Court specifically held in Boynton, that a UM insurer can raise and assert any defense the uninsured motorist

could assert. There is no question that the uninsured tortfeasor is treated as if he had insurance. So no matter how you look at it, the tortfeasor is entitled to raise the uninsured motorist defense, plus of course the statute expressly allows the carrier to do so. As these statutes are all part of State Farm's policy as a matter of law, they simply cannot be ignored as they were in Newton, or as Dauksis would like.

The State Farm policy does not provide more benefits or broader coverage than does the statute. In fact, the policy specifically says that it will pay those damages that Dauksis is "legally entitled to collect" from an uninsured motorist. In this case, Dauksis can only collect pain and suffering damages if he proves permanency.

Furthermore, it is important to remember the upshot of Dauksis' position, is that his carrier cannot assert the threshold defense, as the tortfeasor could not assert threshold defense. If the tortfeasor can assert the threshold defense, Dauksis has to lose because otherwise State Farm's rights of subrogation would be impaired if State Farm could not assert the defense, but the tortfeasor could. Boynton, 558.

Finally, Dauksis insists that §627.727(7) is irrelevant and that the policy language must be strictly construed against State Farm. However, even construing the policy language strictly, only requires that State Farm pay those damages that Dauksis is legally entitled to collect from the uninsured motorist, assuming Dauksis proves permanent injury. Of course, this is exactly what

§627.727(7) requires also. This statute is part of State Farm's policy, as a matter of law, a point which apparently Dauksis refuses to recognize. Because the statutes are incorporated in the policy, as a matter of law, there is no need for the policy to list the statutes. Because the insured is on notice of the existence of these laws, as is the carrier, these laws become part of the contract at the time it is consummated.

The bottom line to all of this is simply that this Court does not even need to look at the State Farm policy because the statutes clearly set forth what can be recovered against an uninsured motorist carrier, and these statutes must be applied as they are clear and unambiguous. Therefore, the Fourth District's decision below must be affirmed, as a matter of law.

F. Constitutional Challenge Waived.

For the first time ever, Dauksis raises in this Court a challenge to Fla. Stat. §627.727(7) as applied to the facts of this case. As this Court is well aware, a constitutional challenge to a statute cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, especially when it is not raised in the trial court and not even in the Fourth District. Therefore, Dauksis has waived any argument that §627.727(7) is unconstitutional, as applied to the facts of this case.

It is a fundamental rule of appellate review, that an appellate court sits only to review rulings actually made by the trial courts which it supervises, and it cannot entertain a legal issue raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Dober v. Worrell</u>, 401

So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981); <u>Bonded Transportation</u>, <u>Inc. v. Lee</u>, 336 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 1976).

A similar rule applies to asserting grounds challenging the constitutionality of a statute, which grounds not raised in the trial court ordinarily cannot be considered on appeal. Smith v. Ervin, 64 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1953); Henderson v. Antonacci, 62 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1952). As this Court has stated, the constitutional application of a statute to a particular set of facts must be raised at the trial level. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1129-1130 (Fla. 1982). In his Brief at page 27, Dauksis argues that §627.727(7) is unconstitutional as it relates to the issues in this case, arguing that it is unconstitutional as applied to the facts. Therefore, Dauksis has waived this argument by failing to raise it in the trial court.

It is well settled that even constitutional errors, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived unless timely raised in the trial court. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1978). Therefore, where the constitutionality of this statute was never raised in the trial court or the Fourth District, Dauksis is barred from raising it now in the Supreme Court.

Even if Dauksis was entitled to attack the constitutionality of the statute as applied, there is nothing unconstitutional in the statute. Dauksis puts great emphasis on <u>Lasky</u>, which upheld the majority of the provisions of the uninsured motorist scheme in Florida. <u>Lasky</u>, <u>supra</u>. In one breath, Dauksis concedes that

the purpose of the UM statute is to allow recovery by the insured to the same extent as if the tortfeasor had carried liability insurance, and then he turns around and states that it is improper for the UM carrier standing in the shoes of the tortfeasor to assert the permanency defense. In other words, he recognizes that the tortfeasor has to be treated as if he were injured, which means of course that the tortfeasor can assert the no-fault defense. If we treat the tortfeasor as if he carried the required security, he is entitled to assert the defense. There cannot be, and is in fact, no different between the express purpose of the UM statute and \$627.727(7); which is the codification of the same principle that the UM carrier, standing in the shoes of the tortfeasor, is treated as if the tortfeasor had insurance and therefore can assert the threshold defense.

There is nothing unreasonable or improper about the legislature limiting the damages available under the no-fault and uninsured motorist scheme. Dauksis simply wants this Court to ignore §627.727(7), since it is totally dispositive of the issue on appeal, claiming at this late stage of the game, that it is unconstitutional, but has really showed nothing to support this contention. Fla. Stat. §627.727(7) is a codification of all the cases cited regarding the public policy behind uninsured motorist coverage such as Lasky and Boynton. Therefore, it certainly bears a reasonable relationship to the public policy behind the uninsured motorist provisions. Dauksis completely ignores the fact that UM coverage is limited third party benefits available

to insureds in Florida, and that one of the purposes of the UM statute, the no-fault law and the permanency defense was to keep minor cases with no permanency out of the litigation system and thus, reduce the burden on litigation expenses, insurance premiums, and on the judicial system. Clearly, any statute that upholds this purpose has a reasonable relationship to the overall uninsured motorist scheme, which is to treat the tortfeasor as if he was insured, and to limit the recovery to those pain and suffering damages resulting from a permanent injury, regardless of whether the tortfeasor was insured or uninsured. Therefore, even if the issue was not waived, \$627.727(7) is not unconstitutional as applied to the facts in this case.

It is important to remember that this Court is obliged to construe statutes in such a way as to render them constitutional, if there is any reasonable basis for doing do. Aldana v. Holub, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1980); VanBibber v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Insurance Company, 439 So.2d 880 (Fla. 1983). Just as the courts have placed limitations on the dangerous instrumentality doctrine without completely abolishing it, and the legislature has placed limits on car owners' vicarious liability for the acts of the operators beyond their control in certain circumstances, the legislature can limit the damages recovered in motor vehicle accidents. The elimination of one possible ground for relief does not require the legislature to provide some replacement. Jetton v. Jacksonville Electric Authority, 399 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In Jetton, this

Court upheld the constitutionality of the waiver of sovereign immunity cap at \$50,000, stating that the constitution does not require a substitute remedy, unless the legislative action has abolished or totally eliminated the previously recognized cause of action. Jetton, 398.

As discussed in <u>Kluger</u> and born out in later decisions, not substitute remedy need be supplied by legislation which reduces but does not destroy a cause of action. The Court pointed out that the legislative changes in the standard of care required, making recovery for negligence more difficult, impeded but do not bar recovery, and so are not constitutionally suspect.

<u>Jetton</u>, 398, <u>citing</u>, <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973).

For a statute to withstand constitutional scrutiny under principles of substantive due process, which apparently is Dauksis' complaint, it need merely be rationally related to the achievement of a legitimate legislative purpose. Department of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia Hospital District, 438 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1983). Dauksis makes the self-serving and completely unsubstantiated claim that \$627.727(7) does not meet this reasonable standard, because the State Farm policy has the provision allowing arbitration or trial (Brief of Petitioner, p. 31-32). Dauksis also makes the self-serving claim that an insurance company invariably chooses trial, rather than arbitration; which is contrary to the experience of not only undersigned counsel, but the general trial bar in Florida. Insurance companies are often forced into trial in a UM situation in situations like the one involving Dauksis, where he is

attempting to turn his non-permanent injury into a permanent injury recovery, and therefore collect damages he would not otherwise be entitled to. Therefore, the provisions of \$627.727(7) are constitutional, as Dauksis concedes when he states in his Brief that the uninsured motorist provision is reasonably related to the "idea of uninsured motorist coverage." Furthermore, Dauksis cites no case that holds a statute can be constitutional when it is passed and then loses it constitutionality based upon unsubstantiated assertions that the public policy behind the statute no longer exists.

However, this Court does not have to engage a due process analysis of the statute, as the claim that it is unconstitutional, as applied, was never raised in the trial court and was not even hinted at in the Fourth District, and therefore, the issue has been waived on appeal.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth District correctly relied on this Court's decision in <u>Dewberry</u> and <u>Boynton</u>, to hold that the uninsured motorist carrier is entitled to assert the permanency defense; which is consistent with statute §627.727(7), which is constitutional; and, therefore the opinion below must be affirmed.

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 525-5885 - Broward (305) 940-7557 - Dade

and

James T. Sparkman, Esquire BARNETT, CLARK & BARNARD

Fort Lauderdale, FL

D17 •

Richard A Sherman